CASE NO: 69,928

VERNON AMOS,

Appellant/Defendant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ED J. WHITE	/
APR 20 1988	
CLERN, SUPPORT COURT	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT VERNON AMOS

Ì

CRAIG A. BOUDREAU, ESQUIRE FLA. BAR NO. 471437 First American Financial Center 220 Sunrise Avenue Suite 207 Palm Beach, Florida 33480 Telephone: (407) 833-8880 ٠_.

<u>۽</u> ۽

÷ 4

× *.

The undersigned counsel for Appellant respectfully requestS that this Honorable Court hear oral argument for the issues herein raised.

Respectfully submitted,

Ciara Boudieau

CRAIG A. BOUDREAU, ESQUIRE FLA. BAR NO. 471437

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

• - •--

•• ,

•~ <u>e</u>_

`_ *

-. ù

Appellant VERNON AMOS was the Defendant, Co-Appellant LEONARD SPENCER was the co-Defendant, and Appellee was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida.

In this brief, the Appellant will be referred to as VERNON AMOS, and Appellee will be referred to as the State.

The symbol "R." will be used to designate the record on appeal followed by the page number.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING VERNON AMOS' MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUIT-TAL AS TO ALL COUNTS?
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED FUNDAMENTALLY BY DENYING VERNON AMOS THE RIGHT TO TESTIFY IN HIS OWN BEHALF?
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED FUNDAMENTALLY BY DENYING VERNON AMOS' PRE-TRIAL MOTION FOR A JURY VENIRE DRAWN FROM PALM BEACH COUNTY AT LARGE (RATHER THAN FROM A "JURY DISTRICT" OF ONLY ONE-HALF THE GEOGRAPHICAL AREA OF THE COUNTY),

AND

ERRED IN VIOLATION OF "EQUAL PROTECTION" STANDARDS OF STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL LAW BY DENYING A DEFENSE REQUEST FOR TRIAL IN THE WESTERN HALF OF THE COUNTY OR GLADES JURY DISTRICT,

AND

ERRED FUNDAMENTALLY IN DENYING THE PRE-TRIAL DEFENSE MOTION TO RE-SET THE CASE FOR TRIAL DURING A WEEK WHEN THE JURY POOL ALREADY WAS SCHEDULED TO BE DRAWN COUNTY-WIDE FOR USE IN SELECTING A NEW GRAND JURY?

IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED FUNDAMENTALLY BY EXCUSING TWO BLACK JURORS ARBITRARILY ON ITS OWN MOTION AND DENIED VERNON AMOS A FAIR TRIAL?

•____

1. . .

. .

- V. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING VERNON AMOS HIS RIGHT TO CONFRONT AND CROSS-EXAMINE STATE'S WITNESSES?
- VI. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING COUNSEL FOR CODEFENDANT TO MENTION VERNON AMOS' SUPPRESSED STATEMENT IN OPENING STATEMENT TO JURY?
- VII. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO MAKE A FINDING OF FACT AS TO VERNON AMOS' CULPABILITY UNDER THE <u>ENMUND</u> RULE?
- VIII. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PREVENTING VERNON AMOS FROM PRESENTING STATUTORY AND NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING EVIDENCE?
- IX. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY SENTENCING VERNON AMOS TO DEATH IN COUNT I OVER THE JURY RECOMMENDATION OF LIFE IMPRISONMENT?
- X. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY SENTENCING VERNON AMOS TO DEATH IN COUNT I AND COUNT V ON INVALID AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES?
- XI. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING MEMBERS OF THE VICTIM'S FAMILY TO TESTIFY PRIOR TO PRONOUNCEMENT OF SENTENCE?
- XII. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING ALL DEATH PENALTY MOTIONS OF APPELLANT?
- XIII. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE PRECLUSION OF DEATH QUALIFICATION OF JURORS AND A BIFURCATED JURY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The relevant facts are as follows: On June 12, 1986, two black males walked into a Mr. Grocer convenience store at the corner of Gun Club Road and Military Trail in West Palm Beach, Florida. The shorter of the two black males, VERNON AMOS, had a dollar bill in his hand and asked the store clerk for a pack of cigarettes. The taller black male, LEONARD SPENCER, went over to the cooler where the sodas are located grabbed a soda. The taller man then walked back towards the front counter, set down the can, and began to walk towards the front door. At that time he (the taller man) grabbed a patron, Terry Howard, around the neck and put a gun to his side. Terry Howard was told by the taller black male to get down on the ground. As he hit the ground Terry Howard heard a gunshot fired. (R. 1845).

Terry Howard heard a voice saying "open the cash register." He was not sure if he heard two different voices. (R. 1902). Then the taller of the two black males went over to Terry Howard, demanded the keys to his car and shot him, striking him once in each arm. (R. 1863-1865). When Mr. Howard became conscious he saw that the two men were gone and that the store clerk, Alan McAnich was unconscious with blood underneath him.

Bobby Lee Helvey was entering the parking lot of the Mr. Grocer and observed two black males get into a car. (R. 1911). He observed the taller one enter the driver's side and the smaller one enter the passenger side. Mr. Helvey observed no weapons. (R. 1915).

At approximately 12:20 a.m. a second killing occurred at a bar about a mile north of the Mr. Grocer on Military Trail at a bar called the English Pub. The State's only eyewitness to the shooting was John Foster. Mr. Foster stated that he was the passenger of a pick-up truck pulling into the English Pub parking

lot. (R. 1972). As he pulled into the lot he observed a tall black male and a white male having a scuffle at the trunk of a pick-up truck that was parked in a spot directly across and adjacent to the spot into which his truck was being maneuvered. Mr. Foster testified that he observed a smaller black male towards the front of the truck on the other side of the opened driver's door. The taller black male appeared to be attempting to wrestle keys, presumably to the truck, away from the white male. (R. 1976). John Foster saw the two continue to scuffle and move towards the opened driver's door. He heard a bang. He never saw a gun and never saw a flash. (R. 1990). The white male, Robert Bragman, staggered away having been shot in the head and later died. The two black males hopped into the pick-up. The taller black male attempted to start the truck.

• • 4

1. ÷

Allen Sedenka, a former policeman, was driving north towards the English Pub. He had heard a report of a shooting at the English Pub on his police scanner. (R. 2180). After he passed the English Pub he saw two black males come out of a wooded area and were walking north along Military Trail. He pulled into the Kentucky Fried Chicken on the opposite side of the road and telephoned the Sheriff's Office. As he was on the phone the two black males came across the street. Sedenka dropped the telephone and went to get into his car as they approached. (R. 2181). The taller black male pulled out a gun and pointed it to Sedenka's head and said, "You're going to drive us." (R. 2182). Sedenka testified that the smaller of the two black males

appeared quite scared and said to Sedenka, "Do what he says or he will kill you." (R. 2245). Sedenka got out of the car, handed the keys to the taller black male. The two got in the car with the taller male driving. They started to pull out of the lot, stopped, switched seats, and drove away. (R. 2184).

• • .

*_ +

Vernon Amos was located and arrested by Sheriff's Deputies two hours later in a junked car at a junkyard. (R. 2070). Vernon Amos had no weapon in his possession. (R. 2083). Vernon Amos has been in custody ever since that arrest.

Vernon Amos was taken to the Palm Beach County Sheriff's Office where he was questioned. (R. 4627). Prior to making a statement the Sheriff's Department allowed Vernon Amos, at his request, to speak with Sgt. Albert Dowdell of the Belle Glade Police Department, a man that Vernon Amos knew from the town where he resided. Sqt. Dowdell promised the Defendant that if he cooperated with the Sheriff's Office in identifying the other black male (Leonard Spencer) that the Sheriff's Office would not recommend the death penalty. (R. 4628). Vernon Amos then proceeded to give a videotaped statement to the Sheriff's Office. (R. 4653). During the statement Vernon Amos tells the detectives that he was unaware that codefendant Leonard Spencer was going to try and rob the Mr. Grocer and that he was forced, at gunpoint, to go with Leonard Spencer and drive. Vernon Amos told them that he had come over from Belle Glade to Palm Beach with Spencer to meet women. (R. 4657). Vernon Amos stated that he only knew the co-defendant as "Spencer" and did not know his first name.

Vernon Amos stated that he thought they were going into the store to buy some cigarettes. Vernon Amos told the detectives that he witnessed the murders at the hands of Spencer and did nothing to help except what Spencer coerced.

Vernon Amos' statement was suppressed after a motion to suppress was filed and the State agreed not to use the statement in its case in chief. (R. 291). Vernon Amos filed a motion to sever defendants prior to trial which was denied. (R. 309). At trial, counsel for the co-defendant was permitted, over objection, to directly comment on the statements which Vernon Amos sought suppression of in his motion to suppress statements. (R. 1811-1817).

Palm Beach County has two "jury districts" that geographically divide the county in half east and west. by local administrative order every criminal trial automatically is set in the eastern district for trial; but, if the crime is alleged to have occurred in the western district, then at the defendant's option and only if he requests if, trial may be had in the western jury district. In whichever jury district a case ends up going to trial, jurors are drawn only from within that jury district for the trial. (R. 5247-5248)

۰. ۰

Vernon Amos' crimes were alleged to have occurred in the eastern half of the county, so his trial was set to take place in the eastern district before a jury drawn only from that district. However, Mr. Amos lives in the western half of the county. He also happens to be Black. (R.5423) So, before his trial on two

counts of first degree murder and other felonies, Vernon Amos and co-defendant Leonard Spencer asked the trial court for an order requiring the clerk of the court to draw a jury pool from Palm Beach County <u>at large</u> for selecting petit jurors to try his case. (R.5245-5265, 5422-5424)

• • .

•• •

٠.

In his motion Amos challenged the constitutionality of the "jury district" system used in Palm Beach County, and objected to drawing prospective jurors for his trial only from the eastern half of the county, primarily on grounds of a racial bias built into the system: because, for a trial like his, it would mean drawing prospective jurors only from the eastern half of the county where the population base is less than 10% Black, and drawing none at all from the western half of the county where the population is over 50% Black. (R. 5249-5258)

He also maintained that the system denies defendants tried in the respective jury districts equal protection of the laws (R.5264-5265), and made other challenges to its validity (R.5258-5263). The trial court entered a written order denying the motion. (R.5269-5442)

Later, pursuant to local administrative order allowing persons accused with crimes in the western jury district to request trial in that district (and even though Amos' crime was alleged to have occurred in the eastern jury district), Amos asked that his case be transferred to the Glades Jury District for trial, claiming it would be denial of equal protection to

refuse his request (R.5299-5302, 5422-5424) The court also denied that motion (R. 100-101).

On day of trial Amos renewed his motion for a county-wide jury pool. Once again, the Court denied it. (R. 345-349)

During jury section the trial court on its own motion and over the objection of the defense excused two black jurors for arriving two minutes early from recess on the floor that the trial was being held. (R. 779-782).

During trial the State never elicited in court identification from any of the eyewitnesses. The photopaks that were used were not brought to court until after the witnesses had testified. (R. 3380-3381). The photopaks were not marked for identification until after the eyewitnesses had testified. (R. 5170). The photopaks were never shown to the eyewitnesses nor were they available to be shown.

· ·

÷.,

After the close of the State's case and the denial of Vernon Amos' motions for judgment of acquittal, Vernon Amos was denied his right to testify in his own defense. Vernon Amos, through counsel, stated his desire to testify. (R. 3877). At <u>no point</u> was a motion in limine made by the State or the codefendant Leonard Spencer. The trial court sought to require Vernon Amos to give a proffer of <u>all</u> of his testimony. Vernon Amos offered to give an oral proffer, through counsel, of the substance of his testimony. (R. 3883). The trial court planned to send the jury home for the day and required a live proffer of all of Vernon Amos' testimony with cross examination by the State and the co-

defendant and daily overnight copies to the parties to use the next day. At no point did any party state any particular reason for the proffer other than a claim by the co-defendant that he wanted discovery. The trial court then badgered the defendant with the same question over and over in an attempt to create a better record on appeal. The colloquy went as follows:

The Court: Mr. Amos you have heard the discussions that we've had with regard to whether you were going to testify or not. Is that correct?

Defendant Amos: Yeah.

The Court: Now, you have in effect told me through your lawyer that you were going to testify. Is that correct?

Defendant Amos: Yeah, was.

The Court: And you are now through your lawyer telling me that you are not going to testify? Is that correct?

Defendant Amos: Under the circumstances, right.

The Court: All right. Now, what are the circumstances that you determine that prevent you from testifying or that make you decide -- rather than to prevent you but make you decide that you are not going to testify?

Defendant Amos: Uh, because of the fact that the State and the codefendant wants transcriptions of this pretrial testimony.

(R. 3888).

• • •

•••••

•

* * * *

The Court: Mr. Amos, is anybody keeping you from testifying in this case?

Mr. Boudreau: Your honor, I object to that question and I advise my client to maintain his right to remain silent. The Court: Mr. Amos, I am ordering you to answer this question. Is anyone preventing you from testifying in this case?

(Whereupon, Defendant Amos conferred with Mr. Boudreau.)

The Court: Mr. Amos did you hear my question?

Defendant Amos: (Nods head affirmatively.)

The Court: I'm going to require you to answer out loud and take your hand away from in front of your face.

Did you hear my question?

•••••

•. •

_ *_

Defendant Amos: Yeah, I heard you.

The Court: Is anyone preventing you from testifying in this case?

Defendant Amos: I maintain my right to remain silent.

The Court: Your right to remain silent is only as to such matters that might incriminate you under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

I am ordering you to answer my question. If you do not, you will be subjecting yourself to contempt of this Court. If I give you a jury trial with regard to that contempt of court and you are found guilty of Contempt of Court, I can theoretically sentence you to life imprisonment in the Department of Corrections of the State of Florida.

If I do not give you a jury trial and you are found in contempt of court, you can theoretically be sentenced to up to five months and twenty-nine days.

I am ordering you to answer my question. Is anyone preventing you from testifying in this case?

(Whereupon, Defendant Amos conferred with Mr. Boudreau.)

The Court: Mr. Amos, did you hear what I asked you?

Mr. Amos, can you hear me now?

Defendant Amos: Yeah.

The Court: Did you hear what I asked you?

Defendant Amos: Yeah, I heard you.

The Court: And what is your response to me when I asked you if someone is preventing you from testifying in this case?

Defendant Amos: Your rules.

The Court: My rules? Is there anything else other than my rule that is preventing you from testifying in this case?

Defendant Amos: No.

(R. 3926-3928).

• • •

•••••

۰_ ۰

٠.

Vernon Amos was not permitted to testify before a jury of his peers. He sits on death row today waiting to testify.

Vernon Amos made a motion for judgment of acquittal alleging that the State proved nothing more than mere presence. (R. 3646) The motion was denied. (R. 3646).

On November 21, 1986 the jury returned the verdict of guilty to Count I - First Degree Murder (Alan McAnich), Count II -Robbery with a Firearm, Count III - Attempted First Degree Murder with a Firearm, Count IV - Robbery with a Forearm, Count V -First Degree Murder (Robert Bragman), Count VI - Robbery with a Firearm, Count VIII - Aggravated Assault with a Firearm, and Count IX - Robbery with a Firearm. (R.5529).

At the Phase II hearing it was shown that Vernon Amos had a father that was never around. His mother sent him away to live with his grandmother at age seven. He never completed high school. He always had a job of some kind or another. Vernon Amos has two children, one which was born after his arrest. He had a loving relationship with his daughter, whom he supported financially and frequently spent time. His employer at the Food

Way in Philadelphia purchased two suits for Vernon Amos to wear at the trial. (R. 4615-4623).

• • •.

•- •

· ·

٠.

At the Phase II hearing Vernon Amos attempted to present nonstatutory mitigating evidence to the jury but was prevented by the trial court. This evidence consisted of the testimony of Sgt. Albert Dowdell and the videotaped interview with Vernon Amos which was mentioned with record pages, <u>supra</u>.

Prior to announcing sentence the trial court considered victim impact testimony from family members of the victims. (R. 4939-4973).

On December 17, 1986 the jury returned an advisory sentence of life imprisonment on Count I and recommended death by a vote of 8 to 4 in Count V. (R.5594).

On Christmas Eve, December 24, 1986 the trial court overrode the jury recommendation of life imprisonment in Count I and sentenced Vernon Amos to death in the electric chair. (R.5629-5633).

On December 24, 1986 the trial court, in Count V, sentenced Vernon Amos to death in the electric chair. (R.5634-5638).

On December 24, 1986 the trial court sentenced Vernon Amos to life imprisonment with a three (3) year mandatory minimum "...because of my determination that you had a derringer firearm with you at the time." On Count III the Defendant was sentenced to life imprisonment with a three (3) year mandatory minimum. On Count IV the trial court sentenced Vernon Amos to life imprisonment. On Count VI the trial court sentenced Vernon Amos to life

imprisonment with a three (3) year mandatory minimum "...because of my determination that you had and used your derringer firearm at the time." The trial court sentenced Vernon Amos to five (5) years imprisonment on Count VIII. On Count IX the trial court sentenced Vernon Amos to life imprisonment. The trial court ordered that all of the sentences "...run consecutive to each other and consecutive to the two death sentences imposed by the court in this case." (R.5639).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Vernon Amos is entitled to reversal based upon the trial court's erroneous ruling denying his motion for judgment of acquittal. Mere presence at the scene of a crime, without more, is insufficient to sustain a conviction as an aider and abettor. <u>Horton v. State</u>, 442 So.2d 1064 (Fla.1st DCA 1983); <u>J.H. v.</u> <u>State</u>, 377 So.2d 1219 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979).

`__ •

The trial court impermissibly infringed upon or burdened Vernon Amos' fundamental right to testify in his own behalf. In doing so the trial court denied him his right to testify in violation of the Sixth and Fifth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

Despite the fact that Vernon Amos had made a pretrial motion to sever and had requested during trial to make a proffer concerning the defendant's testimony, and there was no suggestion or even possibility of surprise due to the defendant's decision

to testify, the trial court ruled that the defendant would not be permitted to testify in his own behalf unless he first submitted to questioning on the substance of his proposed testimony, including cross-examination by codefendant's counsel and the prosecutor, in the absence of the jury. The court further ruled that any inconsistent testimony given by the defendant during such questioning could be used to impeach his subsequent testimony before the jury. In view of this restriction, the defendant was forced to decide not to testify.

•• •

۰**_** ۰

In <u>Taylor v. Louisiana</u>, 419 U.S. 522 (1975), the U.S. Supreme Court held, point blank, that "the selection of a petit jury from a representative cross section of the community is an essential component of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial." In a county with less than 10% Black voters, a very significant concentration of Black voters are removed from jury duty at the main courthouse in the urban eastern half of the county, and are concentrated instead for jury duty at a branch courthouse in the rural western half of the county.

The present jury district system in use in the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit "discriminates racially and is unconstitutional." <u>State v. Alix Joseph</u>, Case No. 87-619 CF A02, Circuit Court, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Palm Beach County, Florida (Harold J. Cohen, Judge).

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