ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

AMY LYNN DIEM Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

Appellant next contends that the trial judge's actions in excusing jurors who did not follow his instructions during voir dire were arbitrary and capricious when compared with his actions post-selection, after the jurors had been sworn, in not excusing jurors who failed to obey these same instructions. Appellant again argues he was unable to obtain a jury selection process that drew on a fair cross section of the community where two of the jurors excused by the trial judge during voir dire were black. Appellee maintains that Appellant's argument is without merit where the trial judge excused caucasians as well as blacks during this pre-selection phase, and where Appellant has not shown these excusals were racially motivated. Moreover, Appellee maintains that the judge's actions were not arbitrary where the trial judge treated all jurors alike before they were

- 67 -

sworn, by excusing them; and treated all jurors alike after they were sworn at a different stage of the proceedings, by not excusing any of them.

The record reflects that, during a recess, the jury was instructed to return to the jury assembly room and to take their recess on any floor other than the fourth floor. (R. 748). After this recess, the judge advised the parties that the bailiff had seen three members of the panel during the recess on the (R. 776). Ms Razz, a black juror, was one of fourth floor. (R. 776). Ms. Pearson, another black juror, and these jurors. Mr. Kilbane, a white juror, had also come upstairs early. (R. 776-778). The court excused all three jurors, explaining that it was extremely critical that the jurors agree to abide by instructions on the law. As the trial court indicated, if the potential jurors couldn't follow his instructions before the case began, the court could not anticipate that they could follow his instructions in this case. (R. 770). The next morning before court started, counsel for Leonard Spencer indicated he had arrived early and observed two persons from the venire "sitting" in the courtroom, wondering if that was where they were supposed (R. 1374). The judge was also advised that some other to be. jurors were found on the fourth floor. (R. 1375). The court stated he intended to follow the same plan. (R. 1375). When the prospective jurors returned, the court excused the two persons who had been in the courtroom plus the two others who had been

outside the courtroom on the fourth floor. (R. 1388-1390). The court stated his reason for doing this was that it was very important for jurors to follow the court's instructions. (R. 1390-91).

Appellee submits that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in excusing this total of seven jurors, which included two black jurors, where they demonstrated they could not follow the law. Moreover, in reality, only one black juror was excused under this policy, as the trial court had previously granted a challenge for cause to excuse Ms. Razz, due to her health problems. The conduct of the jurors is the responsibility of the court and the court is allowed discretion in dealing with any problems that arise. <u>Orosz v. State</u>, 389 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). Thus, for example, in <u>Orosz</u>, the appellate court found that the judge's dismissal of a sworn juror, who had been observed sleeping, without the express consent of the defendant, was not an abuse of discretion.

The jury system is based upon the assumption that jurors will endeavor to follow the court's instructions. <u>McGee</u> <u>v. State</u>, 304 So.2d 142 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1974). Appellant has not demonstrated that any systematic exclusion of blacks existed, as both white and black jurors alike were excused for this reason. Thus, Appellant has not shown an abuse of discretion by the trial judge. Moreover, Appellant has wholly failed to show any prejudice resulting from the exclusion of these potential jurors. Finally, as to the sworn jurors who were not excused, the trial judge's actions were not arbitrary, as he was clearly of the opinion that his instructions, last given the previous Wednesday and Friday, were somewhat confusing and not fresh in the jurors minds. (R. 1489, 1491). The court indicated that the jury assembly room had tried to reach the court but that the jurors did what they thought the judge had said. (R. 1489). Although these jurors were not admonished, the Appellant did not request an admonishment nor did he object to this procedure. (R. 1491).

Dealing with the conduct of jurors is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. <u>Doyle v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1984). There is absolutely no showing that these jurors who returned to court early were exposed to any outside influence by virtue of returning early. The judge's treatment of these sworn jurors does not appear arbitrary or inconsistent with his earlier conduct, as he believed his instructions to these particular jurors were confusing. Appellant has not pointed to any prejudice flowing from the lack of exclusion of these jurors. Certainly, there had been no argument made that these jurors didn't follow the law given at the conclusion of the case.

Appellant has not shown a systematic exclusion of blacks by the trial judge, and both white and black jurors were treated alike.

- 70 -

POINT V

APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WAS NOT DENIED.

Detective Diane Creston showed Exhibit 46, a photo lineup containing the Appellant's photo to Bobby Helvey, Terry Howard, and Allen Sedenka. (R. 3463). Exhibit 46 was shown to Helvey on June 13th at 5:36. (R. 3465-66). Creston testified that Helvey identified photo number two of Appellant as the person he observed. (R. 3470-71). Helvey signed the back of the photo (R. 3471), and was positive of his identification. (R. 3472). Terry Howard was shown the photo lineup containing Appellant's photograph and selected Appellant's photo. (R. 3472-73). Howard initialed this photograph and was positive of his identification. (R. 3473-74). Allen Sedenka was shown this photo lineup on June 13th at 12:44 p.m. and selected Appellant's photo. (R. 3474-75). Creston met with Mark Nordman and took him to the Dyer Dump area to make an identification. (R. 3475-76). Nordman was not told Appellant was involved in the shooting, and there was no suggestion made that he needed to pick out somebody. (R. 3487). Nordman positively identified Appellant as being at the scene of the English Pub shooting. (R. 3479).

Appellee would first point out that this identification testimony was admissible as non-hearsay under Section 90.801 (2)(c), <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1985) where the witnesses testified at trial and were available for cross-examination as to the strength of their identifications had Appellant chose to exercise this

- 71 -

opportunity. Nordman testified at trial that he was able to describe what the black males looked like to police. (R. Nordman testified that the photos of the two suspects 2091). were displayed to him in a group of nine photographs when he went down to the sheriff's office. (R. 2136). Norman testified that the officers asked him to select the two black males that he observed, and that he made a positive identification. (R. 2136). Similarly, Sedenka testified that he was able to make a photographic identification of both suspects that robbed him and that he was positive of his identification. (R. 2240). Sedenka selected Appellant's photo from the first photos he observed. (R. 2246-47).

Thus, as to these two witnesses, Appellant clearly had the opportunity to cross examine them as to the strength and certainty of their identifications, and their ability to observe, although Appellant chose not to cross-examine on identification. Creston's testimony as to extra-judicial identification was admissible under <u>State v. Freber</u>, 366 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1978). In <u>Freber</u>, this Court rejected a hearsay argument that the deputies could not testify as to an extra-judicial identification made by the victim. <u>See also, Downer v. State</u>, 374 So.2d 840 (Fla. 1979) (extra-judicial identification made by a witness, who was unable to make an in court identification, was admissible where identification witness was present at trial and available for cross-examination). Section 90.801(2) (c) is applicable

- 72 -

regardless of whether the declarant is able to identify the defendant in court or whether the witness admits, denies, or fails to recall making the prior identification. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 414 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982).

Any error as to Creston's testimony that Howard made a positive identification, where Howard did not testify at trial as to any identification, is harmless where there was other identification testimony which placed Appellant at the scene of the crime at Mr. Grocer. See, e.g., Melton v. State, 404 So.2d 798 (Fla. DCA 1981) (statement attributed to deceased placing defendant at the scene of the crime was hearsay but error harmless where presence at scene established by other evidence). Bobby Lee Helvey testified that he observed two black males running to a car at Mr. Grocer at 11:30 p.m. (R. 1912-14). Helvey identified Appellant from the photo lineup later that morning. (R. 1916). Appellant was described by Helvey as wearing a black, vest-like shirt, with two-tone blue jeans. (R. 1917-1918). When Appellant was apprehended he was wearing clothing which matched this description.

Appellee would further point out that Appellant never objected to either Helvey's or Sedenka's testimony as to identification, without the photo packs admitted into evidence, as being a denial of his right to confrontation. This issue was not raised until later, during Appellant's motion in limine to preclude police officer's testimony as to identification of

- 73 -

Appellant by these witnesses. (R. 2295). Appellant's objection to any lack of confrontation as to the witnesses' identifications based on photo lineups, made <u>after</u> the witnesses had already testified, was clearly untimely. Constitutional rights may be waived if not timely presented. <u>Ray v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981).

At bar, the State had no objection to Appellant being allowed to recall the identification witnesses for further crossexamination on their identifications. (R. 2340). Appellant, who adopted the argument of co-defendant (R. 2346), did not want the opportunity to recall these witnesses to cross-examine them on the photo identifications. (R. 2344). Where counsel failed to take advantage of the opportunity to cure error, the error will be deemed invited and nor warrant reversal. <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974), cert. <u>denied</u> 428 U.S. 911.

Moreover, the confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment is restricted by its terms to witnesses and does not encompass physical evidence as well. <u>Strahorn v. State</u>, 436 So.2d 447 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986); <u>State v. T.L.W.</u>, 457 So.2d 566 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984).

Appellant's convictions must be affirmed.

- 74 -

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AS TO A COMMENT MADE BY CO-DEFENDANT SPENCER DURING OPENING ARGUMENT.

Prior to trial Appellant filed a motion to suppress statements made by Appellant to Officer Dowdell. (R. 281-293). The State stipulated it would not use the video taped statements of Appellant set forth in Appellant's motion to suppress during trial (R. 283), and would not elicit any verbal testimony concerning the contents of Appellant's statement in its case-inchief. (R. 285).

During opening argument by co-defendant Spencer, counsel for Spencer was attempting to show the chronological events of what happened from the point that his client allegedly returned to Belle Glade before the commission of the robbery at Mr. Grocer. (R. 1810-11). Counsel for Spencer detailed how Appellant was caught hiding inside a junked vehicle and was then taken to the Sheriff's office. (R. 1810-11). Appellant objected to the co-defendant mentioning his statement given to police. (R. 1812). Counsel for Spencer indicated that he only wanted to show that as a result of speaking with Appellant, the police began looking for Spencer's brother. (R. 1812). Counsel for Spencer did <u>not</u> want to comment on the <u>substance</u> of Appellant's statements:

THE COURT: You would be offering his testimony against him is what you're saying?

- 75 -

MR. BAILEY: No, no. I'll be offering only -- and I have him under subpeona --Officer Dowdell, who took part in the interrogation of Vernon Amos. I would be offering testimony from Dowdell that he talked with Vernon Amos and, as a result of his conversation, he was looking for somebody who was not my client. He was not looking for my client.

Appellant's objection was overruled and motion for mistrial denied. (R. 1813-1814, 1815-16). Counsel for Spencer then argued that Appellant was brought to the Sheriff's office whereupon a police officer was flown in from Belle Glade. (R. 1814). Spencer argued that as a result of Officer Dowdell's conversation with Appellant, that Dowdell began looking for some individuals in Belle Glade that did not include Leonard Spencer. (R. 1817-18).

Florida case law states that a motion for declaration of mistrial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. <u>Salvatore v. State</u>, 355 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1979); <u>Barsden v.</u> <u>State</u>, 203 So.2d 194 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967). The power to declare a mistrial and discharge the jury should be exercised with great care and caution and should be done only in cases of absolute necessity. <u>Salvatore v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. The standard of prejudice which must be met by the defendant in order to obtain a new trial varies adversely with the degree to which the conduct of the trial has violated fundamental notions of fairness. <u>Salvatore</u>, <u>supra</u>. It should not be presumed that if error did occur it

- 76 -

injuriously affected the substantial rights of the defendant. Id.

Appellee maintains that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's motion for mistrial where Spencer's opening statement did not mention that Appellant gave an incriminatory statement to police. It must be remembered that opening remarks of counsel do not constitute evidence. Whitted v. State, 362 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1978). All that Spencer's statement alluded to was that Dowdell had a conversation with Appellant, and that as a result of the conversation, Dowdell began looking for soemone other than Leonard Spencer. (R. 1817-The mere fact that Dowdell had a conversation with 18). Appellant does not infer any culpability on Appellant's part. Significantly, the substance of Appellant's statements were not alluded to either. Counsel for co-defendant's remark was not improper where he only stated the events as he thought they would unfold at trial. See, e.g., Travieso v. State, 480 So.2d 100 (Fla. 4 DCA 1985), review denied, Perez v. State, 491 So.2d 280 (mistrial not warranted by reference in opening statement by codefendant's counsel, detailing involvement of an alleged participant in smuggling operation as though that participant were going to be called as a witness, where case was outlined as counsel anticipated it would unfold through the various witnesses, although no one called the witness). Thus, Appellee submits that this isolated remark that Appellant had a

- 77 -

conversation with Dowdell after he was apprehended was not so prejudicial as to warrant a new trial. Where the nature of the remark was at most an indirect reference that Appellant had given a statement, and the substance of the statement itself was not disclosed, this remark was neither so harmful or fundamentally tainted as to require a new trial.

Should this Court find the remark to be improper, Appellee submits that the error is harmless under the dictates of State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). See also, Adams v. State, 445 So.2d 1132 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984) (error in permitting prosecutor at joint trial to refer in his opening statement to portion of first defendant's confession, which stated that second defendant suggested that they rob victim before they left lounge, was harmless in view of overwhelming evidence against second defendant). In light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt, it is clear that this isolated remark could not possibly influence the jury's verdict where Appellant was identified as fleeing from Mr. Grocer after the robbery by Bobby Helvey, (R. 3465-66), where Mark Nordman identified Appellant as fleeing the scene of the English Pub after the murder (R. 3475-79), where Appellant was identified by Allen Sedenka as robbing him of his car (R. 3475), and where Terry Howard identified Appellant from a photo lineup as being involved in the crimes at Mr. Grocer. (R. 3473-74). Appellant was chased in Sedenka's Honda, whereupon he and Spencer abandoned the car in the Dyer Dump area, and Appellant was found

- 78 -

hiding in a junked vehicle. In light of this evidence, only the most egregious of errors could have changed the outcome of this case.

POINT VII

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